RECEIVED

03-15-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2011AP2833-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JACQUELINE R. ROBINSON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District I, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Paul R. Van Grunsven, Presiding.

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

> > DUSTIN C. HASKELL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1071804

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4105 (414) 227-4805 haskelld@opd.wi.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED

Were Ms. Robinson's state and federal constitutional protections against double jeopardy violated when, after imposing a sentence and remanding her to start serving the sentence forthwith, the circuit court recalled the case the next day and increased her sentence, not because of an error of law or a misstatement of fact?

The circuit court and court of appeals found that the circuit court did not violate Ms. Robinson's protection against double jeopardy.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This case presents issues of statewide concern, meriting both oral argument and publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 22, 2011, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Jacqueline R. Robinson with one count of possession of narcotic drugs and two counts of battery to a police officer, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 940.20(2) & 961.41(3g)(am). (2). Following a preliminary hearing, the State filed an information charging the same three counts as the complaint. (3). On April 12, 2011, Ms. Robinson pled guilty to all three charges. (30:9-16).

On May 10, 2011, the Honorable Paul R. Van Grunsven sentenced Ms. Robinson to 18 months of initial confinement and 24 months of extended supervision for possession of narcotic drugs. (31:12; App. 118). As to the counts of battery to a police officer, the court imposed sentences of 24 months of initial confinement, followed by 36 months of extended supervision. (31:12; App. 118). The court ordered that these sentences run concurrently with each other, and concurrently with sentences previously imposed in Waukesha County. (31:12; App. 118).

The next day, the judge *sua sponte* recalled the case. (32; App. 121-24). The court adjusted its sentence on the two counts of battery to a police officer, imposing concurrent sentences of 33 months of initial confinement and 36 months of extended supervision. (32:4; App. 123).

Ms. Robinson filed a postconviction motion, seeking reinstatement of the sentence originally imposed on May 10, 2011. (21). The motion asserted that the court violated the double jeopardy clauses of the United States and Wisconsin constitutions when it increased her sentence on May 11, 2011. (21:5-7).

The circuit court denied the postconviction motion. (22; 105-07). The court found that there was no double jeopardy violation. (22:3; App. 107). The court reasoned that it had not increased the sentence upon reflection, but rather because it had a mistaken understanding of Ms. Robinson's sentences in Waukesha County. (22:2; App. 106).

Ms. Robinson appealed. The court of appeals held that the circuit court did not violate double jeopardy when it increased Ms. Robinson's sentence. *State v. Robinson*, No. 2011AP2833, unpublished slip op. at ¶¶ 5; (App. 103-04).

Ms. Robinson petitioned this Court to review the court of appeals' decision. This Court granted the petition.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As part of a plea agreement in the present case, the State agreed to recommend a sentence concurrent to previously imposed sentences in Waukesha County case numbers 08CF518, 2008CM2563, 2008CM1636. (30:7-8).

At sentencing, the prosecutor outlined Ms. Robinson's prior convictions in Waukesha County and the sentences she was serving at the time. (31:2-4; App. 108-10). Ms. Robinson was serving two years in confinement and four years of extended supervision. (31:4; App. 110). That sentence was running concurrent to two nine month jail sentences. (31:4; App. 110). The bottom line, the prosecutor explained, was that "the defendant currently in those cases, is serving two years in custody, four years extended supervision." (31:4; App. 110).

At the end of her sentencing argument, the prosecutor reiterated that any sentence should run concurrently with the two year confinement, four year extended supervision being served:

> [G]iven the fact that the defendant has been revoked off of probation and now faces two years in custody and four years extended supervision, the State feels that such time is appropriate to due to the seriousness of the offense and therefore would recommend any sentence in this case run concurrent to the sentence in the other cases.

(31:6-7; App. 112-13).

Defense counsel also explained that Ms. Robinson had been revoked and "sentenced to two years initial confinement, four years extended supervision." (31:7; App. 113). Just before imposing sentence, the court then explained that it was taking into consideration the revocation sentence that had been imposed: "I consider the fact that Judge Domina ordered a sentence of two years in and four years out after she was revoked and returned to him for sentencing." (31:11; App. 117).

The court then sentenced Ms. Robinson to 18 months confinement and 24 months extended supervision for possession of narcotic drugs. (31:12; App. 118). The court also sentenced Ms. Robinson to 24 months in confinement and 36 months extended supervision for battery to a police officer. (31:12; App. 118). These sentences were ordered to run concurrently to one another and the Waukesha sentence. (31:12; App. 118).

The next day, the court *sua sponte* recalled the case. (32; App. 121-24). The court stated that after the hearing, it did some research and realized it made a mistake. (32:2; App. 121). Specifically, the court explained that it mistakenly believed the previously imposed nine month sentences were consecutive to the two year confinement sentence. (32:3; App. 122).

The court then stated:

In fashioning a sentence in this case, the Court does look at the gravity of the offense, the defendant's character and the need to protect the public and yesterday I started my sentencing arguments by talking about how despicable the behavior was by Ms. Robinson in this case in terms of her reactions and interactions with the police officers in this case.

In fashioning a sentence the Court does need to look at probation and probation is not appropriate. The court considers prior record of convictions and the court does look at a period of incarceration and believes it is necessary to accomplish the objectives of good sentencing, which is the gravity of the offense, the defendant's character and the need to protect the public.

Given all of that and harkening back to the comments made yesterday, I asked this case be called back so I can re-state and announce the sentence I wanted to achieve yesterday and based on the record now before the Court, as to Count 1, I'm continuing with a 42 month sentence for Ms. Robinson, concurrent to any other sentence, with 18 months initial confinement, and 24 months extended supervision.

As to Count 2 and Count 3, however, it is my belief that there should be time reflected in this sentence over and above what Judge Domina did and given the circumstance and my confusion as to whether that case was concurrent or consecutive; that is 08CM1636, I'm sentencing Ms. Robinson as to Count 2, to 69 months in the Wisconsin State Prison System, concurrent to any other sentence; 33 months initial confinement, 36 months extended supervision.

As to Count 3; 69 months in the Wisconsin state prison system, concurrent to any other sentence. With 33 months initial confinement, 36 months extended supervision.

(32:4; App. 123). Thus, the court increased Ms. Robinson's sentence by nine months in confinement. (31:12; 32:4; App. 118, 123).

Ms. Robinson's postconviction motion asserted that the court violated the double jeopardy clauses of the United States and Wisconsin constitutions when it increased her sentence on May 11, 2011. (21:5-7). The motion noted that this case did not involve correction of an illegal sentence. (21:6-7). It pointed out that the record conclusively established that the court understood Ms. Robinson's existing sentences, and argued that the increase was impermissibly based on the court's second guessing of its original sentence. (21:6-7).

In denying the postconviction motion, the circuit court ruled that there was no double jeopardy violation. (22:3; App. 107). The court reasoned that it had not increased the sentence upon reflection, but rather after recognizing its mistaken understanding of Ms. Robinson's Waukesha sentences. (22:2-3; App. 106-07). The court did not address Ms. Robinson's argument that the record contradicted any claim that it did not understand the Waukesha County sentence.

The court of appeals affirmed, holding that the circuit court did not violate double jeopardy when it increased Ms. Robinson's sentence. *Robinson*, No. 2011AP2833, slip op. at ¶ 5. The court of appeals analogized to its earlier decision in State v. Burt, where the sentencing court recalled the case on the same day as the original sentencing to correct a "slip of the tongue" because the court mistakenly said concurrent when it meant consecutive. 2000 WI App 126, 237 Wis. 2d 610, 614 N.W.2d 42. In the present case, the court of appeals acknowledged that "Ms. Robinson's expectation in the finality of her sentence was not illegitimate" because the circuit court imposed a legally valid sentence, and she engaged in no malfeasance. Robinson, No. 2011AP2833 slip op. at \P 5. Nevertheless, the court concluded that "the sentence did not yet have a degree of finality that prohibited the circuit court from correcting its own mistake the day after the initial sentencing." Id.

Ms. Robinson filed a petition for review, asking this Court to grant review to address the conflict between *Burt*,

the present case, and an unpublished court of appeals opinion which prohibited a circuit court from changing a sentence from concurrent to consecutive two days after the sentence was imposed. Ms. Robinson argued that this conflict demonstrated the need for clarification on the limits of **Burt**. She asked this Court to hold that **Burt** only applies to a true "slip of the tongue," or an obvious, clearly stated error at the original sentencing.

ARGUMENT

I. The Post-Sentencing Increase in Ms. Robinson's Sentence Violated Her State and Federal Constitutional Protection Against Double Jeopardy Because She Had a Legitimate Expectation of Finality in Her Sentence.

Ms. Robinson's protection against double jeopardy was violated when the circuit court increased her sentence the day after the original sentencing hearing. The day after imposing sentence, the court recalled the case, *sua sponte*, and increased the sentence by nine months, explaining that it mistakenly believed that Waukesha County had previously imposed a nine month sentence consecutive to another sentence, rather than concurrent. (32:2-3, 5; App. 121-22). The record establishes that the court was accurately and repeatedly advised of, and accurately recited the sentence Ms. Robinson was serving. (31:4, 6, 7, 11; App. 110, 112, 113, 117). There was no misunderstanding or ambiguity. Therefore, this Court should reinstate the originally imposed sentence. A. A circuit court cannot increase a defendant's sentence after sentencing if the defendant had a legitimate expectation of finality in the sentence.

The Wisconsin and United States Constitutions protect a criminal defendant from being subjected to multiple punishments for the same offense. U.S. Const. amend. V, XIV; Wis. Const. art. I, § 8. The double jeopardy provisions of the state and federal constitutions are coextensive and are treated as one on appeal. *State v. Burt*, 2000 WI App 126, ¶ 7, 237 Wis. 2d 610, 614 N.W.2d 42. On appeal, this court reviews independently whether a defendant's double jeopardy rights have been violated. *Id.* at ¶ 15.

"[J]urisprudence has placed a premium on ensuring finality of judgments and not subjecting defendants to endless prosecutions or multiple punishments." *State v. Gruetzmacher*, 2004 WI 55, ¶ 23, 271 Wis. 2d 585, 679 N.W.2d 553. This interest in finality is designed to avoid the "embarrassment, expense and ordeal and compelling [a defendant] to live in a continuing state of anxiety and insecurity...." *See Id.* at ¶ 20 (quoting *United States v. DiFrancesco*, 449 U.S. 117, 127-28 (1980)).

Although primarily directed towards successive prosecutions, a defendant's protection against double jeopardy extends to increases in his or her sentence. *State v. Jones*, 2002 WI App 208, ¶ 10, 257 Wis. 2d 163, 650 N.W.2d 844.

When a defendant's sentence is enhanced, "the analytical touchstone for double jeopardy is the defendant's legitimate expectation of finality in the sentence". *Jones*, 257 Wis. 2d 163, ¶ 10. Whether a defendant had a legitimate expectation of finality in his or her sentence turns on "many

factors, such as the completion of the sentence, the passage of time, the pendency of an appeal, or the defendant's misconduct in obtaining sentence." *Id.* The courts have also considered whether the court imposed an illegal sentence, whether the court's sentence was based on an inaccurate understanding of the law, and whether the court's sentencing intent was clear from the record at the original sentencing hearing. *Gruetzmacher*, 271 Wis. 2d 585, ¶¶ 1-2; *State v. Willett*, 2000 WI App 212, ¶ 6, 238 Wis. 2d 621, 618 N.W.2d 881.

B. Ms. Robinson had a legitimate expectation of finality in her sentence.

Ms. Robinson had a legitimate expectation of finality in her sentence, a sentence which was not based on any error of law or fact. The court articulated a legally valid sentence, and there was no misunderstanding as to how Ms. Robinson's existing sentences would operate in relation to the sentence being imposed. The parties clearly and accurately communicated the length of Ms. Robinson's sentence in Waukesha County. (31:4, 6, 7; App. 110, 112, 113). The record demonstrates that the court clearly and accurately understood the Waukesha sentences. (31:117; App. 123). The court's belief that it misunderstood the Waukesha sentences is belied by its own record in which it accurately recited the Waukesha sentences.

> 1. Ms. Robinson had a legitimate expectation of finality in her sentence because the original sentence was not based on any error of law.

On May 10, 2011, the circuit court imposed a legally valid sentence and ordered Ms. Robinson to begin serving the sentence "forthwith." (31:12-14; App. 118-120). Ms.

Robinson had a legitimate expectation that this sentence was final because it was not based on any error of law.

A circuit court may increase a sentence when based on a genuine misunderstanding of law, and where the circuit court's actual intent at the original sentencing is clear from the record. In *Gruetzmacher*, this Court allowed the circuit court to adjust an illegal sentence to conform to its intent as stated at the sentencing hearing. 271 Wis. 2d 585, ¶ 2. There, the circuit court explained unambiguously that its intent was to impose a 40 month confinement period, believing that period to be the minimum necessary. Id.. The defendant had been convicted on multiple counts and the circuit court mistakenly ordered the 40 months confinement on a count for which the maximum penalty was only 24 months in confinement. Id. at ¶¶ 7-8. Later that same day, the court recognized the error and contacted the parties to adjust its sentence. Id. at \P 8. The court then sentenced the defendant to 40 months confinement on a different count, in order to effectuate its intent as stated at the original sentencing hearing. *Id.* at ¶ 11.

This Court held that the sentence increase did not violate double jeopardy. *Id.* at \P 38. Significantly, the circuit court's intent to impose a 40 month sentence was abundantly clear from the initial sentencing hearing. *Id.* at \P 36. Thus, the circuit court was merely rectifying an error of law to impose the sentence that it clearly intended to impose in the first place.

In contrast to *Gruetzmacher*, the circuit court in the present case imposed a legally valid sentence at the original sentencing. Perhaps more significantly, in *Greutzmacher*, the court record conclusively established that at the original sentencing, the court intended to impose a sentence of 40

months in confinement. *Id.* at \P 36. The record in the present case does not include any evidence from the original sentencing that the court intended a different sentence than it imposed. This distinction lends significant weight to the legitimacy of Ms. Robinson's expectation that her sentence was final and would not be subject to later increase.

Ms. Robinson's legitimate expectation of finality is more akin to that in State v. Willett, where the court of appeals reversed an increase in the defendant's sentence, which was based on an error of law. 2000 WI App 21, ¶ 6, 238 Wis. 2d 621, 618 N.W.2d 881. In *Willett*, the circuit court stated that it wanted to impose a consecutive sentence, but believed that it was not legally authorized to do so; thus, the court imposed a concurrent sentence. Id. at $\P 2$. The court subsequently learned that it could have imposed a consecutive sentence, then, four months after the initial sentencing, it imposed a consecutive sentence. Id. The court of appeals reversed, holding that the defendant had a legitimate expectation of finality. *Id.* at \P 6. The circuit court's error was not a "slip of the tongue," rather the court imposed a valid sentence based solely on its own incorrect understanding of the law *Id*.

Ms. Robinson's expectation of finality was even stronger than Willett's. Unlike *Willett*, there is no evidence in this record that the court's sentence was based on a mistaken understanding of the law. The court's sentence was legally valid, so there was no reason to think that the court would need to revisit the sentence to correct any error. 2. Ms. Robinson had a legitimate expectation of finality in her sentence because the original sentence was not based on any error of fact.

Ms. Robinson also had a legitimate expectation of finality in her sentence because there was no misstatement of fact to justify a subsequent increase. Although the circuit court stated that it misunderstood the length of the previously imposed sentences that Ms. Robinson was serving, the record clearly shows otherwise.

The prosecutor accurately stated, on two occasions, that Ms. Robinson was serving a sentence of two years in confinement, followed by four years of extended supervision, and that that sentence was running concurrently with a nine month sentence. (31:4, 6; App. 110, 112). Even more significantly, the circuit court then indicated that it clearly understood Ms. Robinson's existing sentence of "two years in and four years out" (31:11; App. 117).

This case is distinguishable from a "slip of the tongue" at sentencing. In *State v. Burt*, the circuit court stated that it was imposing concurrent sentences of 20 and 40 years. 2000 WI App 126, ¶ 3, 237 Wis. 2d 610, 614 N.W.2d 42. When it was pointed out that Burt's co-defendant received a harsher sentence, the court recalled the case the same day. *Id.* at ¶ 4. The judge stated that he intended to impose consecutive sentences and asserted that his notes, which were sealed for appeal, reflected his intent to impose consecutive sentences. *Id.* ¶ 4. The court of appeals held that the sentence increase did not violate double jeopardy because the circuit court merely misstated concurrent when it meant consecutive, and it moved to correct the error immediately. *Id.* at ¶ 11.

Unlike the misstatement in *Burt*, there is no evidence of a similar "slip of the tongue" in the present case. The Waukesha County sentence was correctly stated and the court accurately recited the sentence in that case. (31:4, 6, 7, 11; App. 110, 112, 113, 117).

Ms. Robinson was completely blameless, enhancing the legitimacy of her expectation of finality. She did not engage in any deception, misconduct, or fraud at the sentencing hearing, which would undermine the legitimacy of her expectation of finality in the sentence. Unlike the situation in *Jones*, where the defendant misrepresented to the court that he had been a prisoner of war while serving in Vietnam, 257 Wis. 2d 163, ¶¶ 2-4, Ms. Robinson did not defraud or deceive the court concerning the Waukesha County sentences. Because Ms. Robinson was blameless, she therefore "may *legitimately* expect that the sentence, once imposed and commenced, will not be enhanced." *Jones*, 257 Wis. 2d 163, ¶ 12 (quoting *United States v. Jones*, 722 F.2d 632, 638-39 (11th Cir. 1983) (emphasis in original)).

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