RECEIVED

04-17-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2011AP2833-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JACQUELINE R. ROBINSON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE PAUL R. VAN GRUNSVEN, PRESIDING

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

> > J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

SARA LYNN LARSON **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-5366 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) larsonsl@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

Robinson argues that the sentencing court's increase in her sentence violated her double jeopardy protections because she had a legitimate expectation in the finality of her sentence. According to Robinson, her expectation became legitimate when "[she] left the courtroom [after sentencing] on May 10, 2010" (Robinson's Br. at 14). This is an impractical test, as it would prevent the prompt correction of sentencing court errors.

The State submits that in preserving and applying Wisconsin's existing caselaw, Robinson had no legitimate expectation of finality in her sentence. The court of appeals properly applied Wisconsin caselaw in determining that Robinson's sentence did not have a degree of finality and that her double jeopardy protections were not violated when the sentencing court corrected its mistake the day after sentencing.

I. WISCONSIN'S CASELAW ON THE ISSUE OF A DEFENDANT'S EXPECTATION OF FINALITY IN HER SENTENCE.

In addressing the issue of what constitutes a legitimate expectation of finality in a sentence, a review of Wisconsin caselaw is provided:

In deciding double jeopardy claims specific to sentencing, Wisconsin courts have consistently cited the United States Supreme Court decision *United States v. DiFrancesco*, 449 U.S. 117 (1980). In *DiFrancesco*, the Court reviewed a federal statutory scheme that authorized the imposition of an increased sentence for a convicted "dangerous special offender" and allowed the government to seek review of the sentence in the court of appeals. *Id.* at 118. The *DiFrancesco* court recognized that the level of finality accompanying an acquittal was qualitatively different than the level of finality that a defendant had after sentencing. *Id.* The Court stated that the "Double Jeopardy Clause does not provide the defendant with the right to know at any specific moment in time what the exact limit of his punishment will turn out to be." *Id.* at 137.

The *DiFrancesco* Court further stated that, "[T]he Double Jeopardy Clause does not require that a sentence be given a degree of finality that prevents its later increase," and it ultimately held that the increase of the "dangerous special offender" sentence on appeal by the government did not violate double jeopardy. *Id.* at 137, 138-39. Several Wisconsin cases following the *DiFrancesco* decision have hinged on the expectation of finality consideration set forth in that opinion.

A. State v. Burt, 2000 WI App 126, 237 Wis. 2d 610, 614 N.W.2d 42

In *Burt*, the sentencing court misspoke at the defendant's sentencing when it sentenced him to concurrent sentences, rather than the consecutive sentences originally intended. 237 Wis. 2d 610, ¶¶ 3, 4. The sentencing court recalled the case later the same day to change the sentence from concurrent to consecutive. The court of appeals held that the sentencing court did not violate double jeopardy when it changed the sentence it had imposed earlier that same day. *Id.*, ¶ 12. The court of appeals explained that "a defendant's interest in the

finality of his or her sentence is not a significant concern when the trial court simply corrects an error in speech in its pronouncement of the sentence later in the same day." Id. The court of appeals noted that the sentencing court did not modify the sentence after reflection, but rather "misspoke" as to the intended sentence. Id., ¶ 15. The court concluded that "Burt did not have a legitimate expectation that [the sentencing court] could not correct his slip of the tongue on the day of sentencing." Id., ¶ 12 (emphasis added)¹.

B. State v. Willett, 2000 WI App 212, 238 Wis. 2d 621, 618 N.W.2d 881

Less than three months after *Burt*, the court of appeals decided *State v. Willett*. In that case, the court of appeals held that the defendant *did* have a legitimate expectation of finality when the sentencing court imposed its sentence after the defendant had already served four

Burt, 237 Wis. 2d 610, ¶ 13.

¹ The court in *Burt* noted that Wis. Stat. § 973.15(1) unambiguously states that "'all sentences commence at noon on the day of sentence[.]" The court concluded the statue was not relevant to a double jeopardy analysis:

If we were to use § 973.15(1) in the manner Burt suggests, it would produce absurd results. Accepting Burt's argument, any defendant sentenced in an afternoon hearing would have already begun to serve his or her sentence retroactively at noon, and a trial court would be barred from changing its mistaken use of the word "concurrent" at that hearing even if it immediately realized that it meant to say "consecutive." On the other hand, a defendant sentenced in a morning hearing would have no such instant double jeopardy protection, as the trial court would have until noon to correct any mistakes. We decline to adopt the use of § 973.15(1) in a context that would produce such arbitrary results.

months. 238 Wis. 2d 621, ¶ 6. In *Willet*, the sentencing court originally held that the defendant's sentences for three convictions could not be served consecutively, and it therefore sentenced the defendant to a concurrent sentence. About four months later, the sentencing court opined that its original ruling was based on an erroneous understanding of the law. *Id.* It then changed the three sentences so that they were consecutive.

The court of appeals reversed, citing *Burt* and providing the following justifications:

[U]nlike Burt, who was resentenced on the same day, Willett had already been serving his sentence for four months when the trial court changed it from concurrent to consecutive. . . . [T]his was not a "slip of the tongue" on the part of the trial court. Here, the trial court had an incorrect understanding of the law governing its sentencing authority. Double jeopardy prevents the State from using this error, four months later, to seek a stiffer sentence for Willett. That the trial court wanted to impose a consecutive sentence to begin with is of no moment; what the trial court actually did was impose a valid, concurrent sentence. Our reading of the transcript of the original sentencing hearing convinces this court that those proceedings fostered in Willett a legitimate expectation of finality in the sentence.

Willett, 238 Wis. 2d 621, ¶ 6. The court concluded that "[t]he double jeopardy clause prevents the trial court from going back, four months later, to redo the sentence." *Id.*

C. State v. Jones, 2002 WI App 208, 257 Wis. 2d 163, 650 N.W. 2d 844

Two years later, in *State v. Jones*, the court of appeals considered an issue of first impression in Wisconsin: "can a defendant have a legitimate expectation of finality in a sentence that was induced by his or her purposeful misrepresentations?" 257 Wis. 2d 163, ¶ 11. At sentencing, Jones told the court that he had been a prisoner of war in Vietnam, and the court

considered this factor when revising his sentence. Id., ¶ 2. Two weeks later, the court found out that Jones had never been a prisoner of war. Id., ¶ 4. At a resentencing hearing, the court increased Jones' sentence. Id., ¶ 6.

On appeal, the court of appeals recognized that "[i]n Wisconsin, we have recognized the principle that the application of the double jeopardy clause to an increase in a sentence turns on the extent and legitimacy of a defendant's expectation of finality in that sentence." Jones, 257 Wis. 2d 163, ¶ 10. It then stated that it "adhere[s] to the tenet that the analytical touchstone for double jeopardy is the defendant's legitimate expectation of finality in the sentence, which may be influenced by many factors, such as the completion of the sentence, the passage of time, the pendency of an appeal, or the defendant's misconduct in obtaining sentence." Id. (citing State v. Hardesty, 129 Wash. 2d 303, 915 P.2d 1080, 1085 (Wash.1996)). The *Jones* Court ultimately concluded that because the defendant had perpetrated a fraud upon the sentencing court, he did not have a legitimate expectation of finality in his sentence. *Id.*, ¶ 14.

D. State v. Gruetzmacher, 2004 WI 55, 271 Wis. 2d 585, 679 N.W.2d 533

This Court was presented with a double jeopardy issue two years later in *State v. Gruetzmacher*. In *Gruetzmacher*, the trial court sentenced the defendant to 40 months of initial confinement, but mistakenly ordered that the 40 months be served for a conviction with a maximum period of initial confinement of 24 months. 271 Wis. 2d 585, ¶ 8. The court realized its mistake later the same day, and it convened a hearing to address the matter two days after sentencing. *Id.*, ¶¶ 8-9. At a hearing held two weeks later, the trial court resentenced the defendant to 40 months of initial confinement on one of the other charges, while reducing the erroneous sentence to the maximum penalty of 24 months of initial confinement. *Id.*, ¶¶ 10-11.

On appeal, this Court noted, "We now decide whether circuit courts should be allowed to correct obvious errors in sentencing where it is clear that a good faith mistake was made in an initial sentencing pronouncement, where the court promptly recognizes the error, and where the court, by reducing an erroneous original sentence on one count and increasing the original sentence on another, seeks to impose a lawfully structured sentence that achieves the overall disposition that the court originally intended." Gruetzmacher, 271 Wis. 2d 585, ¶ 14. In its analysis, this Court noted that "[t]here is not a per se rule barring sentence increases after a defendant has been sentenced." Id., ¶ 16. It also noted that, "[a]fter DiFrancesco dismissed the notion that there was a per se rule, the idea that modification to increase sentences already being served ran afoul of the double jeopardy clause was no longer sound." Id., ¶ 30. "Moreover, courts exercising criminal jurisdiction were encouraged to evaluate the defendant's expectation of finality in the sentence imposed." *Id*.

In discussing the court of appeals' recent decision in *Jones*, the *Gruetzmacher* Court stated, "[t]he factors set forth in *Jones* belie the fact that there is no immutable rule prohibiting sentence increases once a defendant has begun to serve the sentence. Instead, the *Jones* factors must be evaluated in the light of the circumstances in each particular case." 271 Wis. 2d 585, ¶ 34.

² The court of appeals certified the issue to this Court.

³ After discussing *DiFrancesco*, *Burt*, *Willett*, and *Jones*, the *Gruetzmacher* Court withdrew specific language from *State v. North*, 91 Wis. 2d 507, 509-10, 283 N.W. 2d 457 (Wis. App. 1979), which had provided that the due process clause acts as a bar to increasing sentences:

Given the United States Supreme Court's decision in *DiFrancesco*, and subsequent Wisconsin cases that relied on its holding, we conclude that the language in *North* stating that the due process clause acts as a bar to increasing sentences must be withdrawn. The *Jones*

In evaluating Gruetzmacher's case under the *Jones* factors, the court of appeals noted that "the circuit court discovered the sentencing error the same day," and that "the court notified the parties and everyone was back in court two days later to address the matter." *Id.*, ¶ 38. The Court also noted that it "was not a case where, upon mere reflection, the circuit court decided to increase Gruetzmacher's sentence." *Id.*

The Court ultimately concluded that the "circuit court acted appropriately in notifying the parties and holding another hearing two days later and resentencing Gruetzmacher two weeks later . . . in order to correct a sentencing error." 271 Wis. 2d 585, \P 2. The Court continued, "As is evidenced by the statements made during sentencing, the circuit court clearly intended to sentence Gruetzmacher to 40 months initial confinement." *Id.* Therefore, "Gruetzmacher did not have an expectation of finality at his initial sentencing, because of the prompt actions of the court, so the sentence could be modified to correct the sentencing error." Id.

decision clearly recognizes that such a per se rule no longer exists in Wisconsin. Thus, we conclude that the per se rule language in *North*, which states that "(m)odification to correct sentencing flaws runs afoul of the double jeopardy provisions when the amending court seeks to increase sentences already being served," must be and it is withdrawn.

Gruetzmacher, 271 Wis. 2d 585, ¶ 35 (internal citations omitted).

⁴ Appropriately, Robinson does not cite as authority *State v. Crewz*, No. 2007AP2831, 2008 WL 4793789, unpublished slip op. (WI Ct. App Nov. 5, 2008). This decision has no persuasive authority pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(a) ("An unpublished opinion may not be cited in any court of this state as precedent or authority[.]"). The State similarly does not discuss *Crewz* as this Court "need not distinguish or otherwise discuss" it. Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(b). The State simply brings to this Court's attention that in her petition for review, Robinson asked this Court to grant review based upon the court of appeals "inconsistent" application of *State v. Burt* in *Crewz* and in her case.

II. ASSERTIONS THE STATE DOES NOT DISPUTE

In her appellate brief, Robinson distinguishes her case from those cited above to advance her argument that her double jeopardy protections were violated. For this Court's focus and clarity, the State agrees with the following assertions in Robinson's brief:

- Unlike *Gruetzmacher*, this case does not involve the correction of an illegal sentence, but rather a valid sentence (Robinson's Br. at 5).
- The parties accurately advised the sentencing court of the sentence that Robinson was serving in Waukesha County (Robinson's Br. at 7).
- Robinson's original sentence was not based on any error of law (Robinson's Br. at 10, 11).
- Robinson's original sentence was not based on any error of fact (Robinson's Br. at 12).
- Unlike the court in *Burt*, the sentencing court did not "misspeak" or engage in a "slip of the tongue" (Robinson's Br. at 12, 13).
- Unlike the defendant in *Jones*, Robinson was completely blameless; she did not engage in any misconduct (Robinson's Br. at 13).

Because the sentencing court did not resentence Robinson upon reflection, based upon an error of law, based upon an error of fact, or as a result of misconduct, Robinson's case is, factually, unlike any other case decided by the Wisconsin courts. Regardless, applying existing Wisconsin law – the *Jones* factors – to Robinson's case, the State submits that Robinson did not have a legitimate expectation of the finality in her sentence.

III. ROBINSON HAD NO LEGITIMATE EXPECTATION OF FINALITY IN HER SENTENCE

The parties agree that the issue this Court has to decide is whether Robinson had a legitimate expectation of finality in her sentence, thereby implicating her double jeopardy protections. As discussed in *Jones*, what constitutes a legitimate expectation of finality "may be influenced by many factors, such as the completion of the sentence, the passage of time, the pendency of an appeal, or the defendant's misconduct in obtaining sentence." 257 Wis. 2d 163, ¶ 10. These *Jones* factors are to "be evaluated in the light of the circumstances in each particular case." *Gruetzemacher*, 271 Wis. 2d 585, ¶ 34.

A. Application of the *Jones*Factors

Applying *Jones* to the facts of this case, the State submits that Robinson did not have a legitimate expectation of finality in her sentence because:

- Her sentence was not completed, nor substantially completed, when the court resentenced her.
- Under existing case law, the very limited passage of time between when the sentencing court imposed its sentence and when it recalled the case did not provide a legitimate expectation of finality.

• Contrary to Robinson's suggestion, under existing caselaw, Robinson did not have a legitimate expectation of finality in her sentence when she left the courtroom after setencing (Robinson's Br. at 14).

Robinson was remanded back to custody for one day, where she was already serving a sentence for her Waukesha County convictions. Yet in her brief, Robinson argues that she had a legitimate expectation of privacy "left the courtroom" after sentencing (Robinson's Br. at 14). But this Court and the court of appeals has already decided that such a brief passage of time does not constitute a legitimate expectation of finality in one's sentence. In *Burt*, the court of appeals held that the sentencing could - later the same day correct its "slip of the tongue" sentence from concurrent to consecutive. 237 Wis. 2d 610, ¶ 12. And as the court of appeals noted in Robinson's case, "The difference in time between the circuit court's action in Burt and the circuit court's action here is a matter of hours, not days." (A-Ap. 103; R-Ap. 127).

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